STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

KELVIN JACKSON,

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 04 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002115

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner presented no evidence that trial counsel placed Petitioner's character at issue where trial counsel testified he admitted evidence Petitioner had charges of failure to pay child support and forgery, and these were irrelevant prior bad acts, and Petitioner correctly testified trial counsel put his character at issue by calling him a womanizer and allowing the jury to hear of his prior arrests, and where the solicitor exploited counsel's errors?

2.

Whether the PCR court erred in using "overwhelming evidence of guilt" as a categorical bar to post-conviction relief where the state failed to present conclusive proof of guilt?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner and Masako Miller (decedent) had two young sons together, and were in an intermittent romantic relationship. App. 244, l. 15 – 246, l. 2. The boys lived with the decedent and her fourteen-year-old daughter at the decedent's home in Hampton; Petitioner too lived there "off and on." App. 303, ll. 16-18. Petitioner also had a young daughter with Tara Roberts of Fairfax, and was employed in Columbia. App. 530, ll. 1-4; App. 552, ll. 9-18.

The decedent was at her home in Hampton at 12:30 a.m. May 26, 2011, but failed to appear for work at 7:00 a.m., and was reported missing by a coworker. App. 618, ll. 9-18; App. 255, l. 24 – 256, l. 4. A fisherman located the decedent's partially decomposed body on an oyster bed at the Broad River in Beaufort County on May 30, 2011. App. 421, ll. 14-20. An autopsy was unable to determine the cause of her death. App. 574, ll. 11-14. No eyewitnesses to the decedent's death or her placement in the river were found. App. 483, l. 23 – 484, l. 6.

On the night of May 25, 2011, the investigation placed three men at the decedent's home: Petitioner, Clarence Wrice, and Marvin Coker. Like Petitioner, Clarence Wrice was in an intermittent romantic relationship with the decedent; they had been dating on and off since 2010. App. 280, ll. 6-8. Wrice admitted being at the decedent's home on the night of May 25, but said he left around 10:00 – 10:45 p.m. App. 281, ll. 7-15. Wrice lived a mile and a half or two miles away from the decedent, and conceded that the decedent sometimes came to his house at night. App. 287, ll. 9-14; 290, ll. 14-15.

Marvin Coker, a repairman, was also at the decedent's home the night of May 25. The decedent's air conditioner was not working. App. 309, ll. 10-12. Marvin Coker said he was at the decedent's house from about 10:30 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. to look at her air conditioning unit, and that he drove there in his personal vehicle rather than his work truck. App. 527, ll. 14-21.

Petitioner was also at the decedent's home the night of May 25 and early morning of May 26. App. 472, ll. 10-12; App. 96, ll. 16-25. Petitioner parked in a nearby area, walked to the decedent's home, and the two talked and had relations. App. 97, ll. 2; App. 522, ll. 2-24; App. 473, ll. 12-13. Petitioner borrowed the decedent's bank card to get gas, returned the card, and went to Walterboro where he got a hotel room. App. 97, ll. 4-8; App. 474, ll. 14-16; App. 478, ll. 8-9. Petitioner and the decedent had possessed a joint bank account and he used her debit card frequently.<sup>1</sup> App. 277, ll. 15-25.

Tara Roberts and Petitioner had experienced relationship difficulties due to Petitioner being "back and forth" romantically between Roberts and the decedent. App. 532, ll. 3-8. At the time of the decedent's disappearance, Roberts worked as a bus driver and one of her routes took her past the decedent's home. App. 533, ll. 8-17. Roberts explained that if Petitioner was visiting the decedent, he might have parked his car elsewhere, because Roberts could see the decedent's driveway from her early morning bus route. App. 532, l. 25 – 533, l. 24.

Petitioner was identified as a suspect because of his attempted use of the decedent's bank card at the Shell gas station in the early morning hours of May 26, 2011. App. 377, l. 7 – 379, l. 12. The transaction was denied for insufficient funds. App. 369, ll. 10-12; App. 371, l. 24 – 372, l. 7. The gas station attendant testified Petitioner paid with cash after the card was declined, he did not seem nervous or in a hurry, and she did not see any marks or blood on him. App. 379, ll. 3-12; App. 382, ll. 2-13.

---

<sup>1</sup> In May 2011, the decedent had three bank accounts: a joint account with Petitioner which she closed on May 24, an individual account she opened on May 24, and a third previously existing individual account. It was the third previously existing individual account that Petitioner attempted to draw on to purchase gas. App. 364, ll. 1-5; App. 366, ll. 2-7; App. 366, l. 22 – 367, l. 3; App. 369, ll. 5-12; App. 371, l. 5 – 372, l. 9.

On May 26, the decedent's daughter found a note on the counter that said: "I'll be right back. Get ready for school. Went with someone. Love you all guys." App. 312, ll. 19-22. The note was written in crayon. App. 765, l. 10. Several lay witnesses said the handwriting did not appear to be the decedent's. App. 332, ll. 4-6; App. 312, ll. 18-24. A handwriting analyst opined that the decedent did not write the note, and that it was probable but not certain that Petitioner wrote the note.<sup>2</sup> App. 715, l. 21 – 716, l. 17; App. 717, l. 21 – 719, l. 6.

The decedent and Petitioner had a tumultuous relationship and argued.<sup>3</sup> Law enforcement interviewed Petitioner on May 27, June 2, and June 7, 2011. The court rejected counsel's motion to suppress Petitioner's statements based on his audiotaped remarks to law enforcement: "I think I need a lawyer" several times during the interviews. App. 117 ll. 5-7; App. 170, ll. 10-18; App. 173, ll. 15-21. During the interrogations, Petitioner's response about his activities on the night in question changed, but he consistently denied killing the decedent. App. 470, l. 15 – 473, l. 17; App. 483, l. 23 – 484, l. 6.

When questioned on May 27, and asked his whereabouts, Petitioner said he was at his girlfriend Tara Roberts' house in Fairfax on the night of May 25 – 26. App. 357, ll. 2-4. When confronted with surveillance footage from the Shell station in Hampton, Petitioner said he went to Hampton to get gas. App. 357, ll. 20-23; App. 358, ll. 24-25.

When Petitioner was re-interviewed on June 2, he said that he went to Fairfax the night in question intending to see Tara Roberts, but went to a strip club instead and stopped to get gas in Hampton before going back to Columbia the next morning. App. 471, ll. 7-13. When asked the

---

<sup>2</sup> The state did not attempt to obtain a handwriting sample from Clarence Wrice or Marvin Coker, the other men at the decedent's home that night. App. 709, ll. 1-4; App. 709, ll. 13-16.

<sup>3</sup> There was testimony Petitioner was jealous, and they had been in physical altercations. App. 323, ll. 17-22; App. 272, l. 12 – 273, l. 4.

last time he saw the decedent, Petitioner said it was in early May. App. 465, l. 20 – 466, l. 4. However, when confronted with information that someone had seen him in the area of the decedent’s home the night of May 25, Petitioner admitted he saw the decedent the night she disappeared, they had sexual relations, and he asked for her bank card. App. 467, ll. 13-18; App. 473, ll. 10-17.

A Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder July 21, 2011. App. 1009-1010. His case was called to trial on July 29, 2013, before the Honorable Maite Murphy, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, and a jury.<sup>4</sup> App. 2. Virgin Johnson, Jr., and Korey L. Williams represented Petitioner; Sean Thornton and Hunter Swanson Deysach represented the state. App. 3. In his opening statement, the solicitor conceded: “To be frank with you, this is a circumstantial case. There is not what you would call a smoking gun here.” App. 241, ll. 16-17.

An autopsy was unable to determine the decedent’s cause of death or time of death. App. 574, ll. 11-14; App. 579, ll. 3-5. “The cause of death in this case is undetermined.” App. 574, l. 14. “I could not determine for certain, even [after] the examination, exactly how she died.” App. 574, ll. 23-24. The pathologist classified the manner of death as a homicide based on the circumstances and information from law enforcement regarding the decedent’s disappearance. App. 576, l. 24 – 577, l. 6.

The state introduced a pillowcase from the decedent’s bedroom with a spot of the decedent’s blood on it and touch DNA from Petitioner and another (unknown) male into evidence.<sup>5</sup> App. 592, ll. 21-25; App. 593, l. 11 – 595, l.7. There was reason for Petitioner’s DNA

---

<sup>4</sup> Judge Murphy had just been appointed to the bench, and was sitting with Judge Mullen while she tried her first case. App. 52, l. 17 – 53, l. 4.

<sup>5</sup> No DNA was obtained for comparison from Clarence Wrice or Marvin Coker, the other men placed at the decedent’s home that night. App. 709, ll. 5-6; App. 709, ll. 13-18.

to be on the pillowcase because he lived with the decedent off and on. App. 303, ll. 16-18. Although the pathologist said the autopsy could be consistent with suffocation or strangulation, there was no showing the pillow was the murder weapon. App. 577, l. 12 – 578, l. 12.

Joyce Loadholt was the decedent’s coworker, and reported her missing. App. 255, ll. 1-7. On cross-examination, trial counsel inexplicably asked if she knew whether Petitioner had ever been to jail.

**Q Had [Petitioner] gone to jail, she would have told you that, too; wouldn’t she?**

**A When he did go to jail, she did tell me.**

**Q And you talked about that. Okay. That was for child support; wasn’t it, for the other woman?**

**A It was for child support and for forgery check.**

**Q One moment, your Honor.**

App. 268, ll. 19-24 (emphasis added).

In fact, it appears Appellant had no prior record other than traffic tickets. At sentencing, the judge asked: “Solicitor, any prior record?” The solicitor responded: “None of any consequence, your Honor. I believe he had some traffic offenses, some other things, but nothing of any significance that I am aware of.” The solicitor’s co-counsel agreed: “That’s correct.” App. 824, ll. 13-18.

James Bolton of the Hampton Police Department interviewed Petitioner about his use of the decedent’s bank card at the Shell station. App. 349, ll. 2-4. Trial counsel objected to Bolton’s testimony, arguing that evidence of a pending charge was “prior bad act” character

evidence under Rule 404, SCRE and was “more prejudicial than probative under 403.”<sup>6</sup> App. 349, l. 5 – 350, l. 13. Bolton went on to testify that checking on the use of bank cards was standard procedure in a missing persons case, and he spoke with Petitioner “[a]bout a financial transaction card, a debit card that he used at the Shell Station in Hampton.” App. 353, ll. 3-4; App. 359, l. 24 – 360, l. 4. Critically, Bolton did not testify there was any criminal wrongdoing or fraud in connection with Petitioner’s use of the bank card.

Although trial counsel had objected to bad act testimony of alleged financial transaction fraud, and no such testimony was presented by the state, counsel elicited such testimony himself when he later cross-examined another officer.

**Q Okay. All right. Agent Johnson, let me ask you this. The first time you talked to Mr. Jackson, he was in the Hampton jail. Is that correct?**

**A That's correct.**

**Q And he was charged with fraudulent transaction. Is that correct?**

**A I think that was the charge. I wasn't certain of it.**

**Q That's right.**

**A But he was charged with something.**

**Q That's right. And he was charged with the fraudulent transaction, and you went in, and you talked with him. Is that correct?**

**A That's correct.**

App. 481, l. 17 – 482, l. 5 (emphasis added).

---

<sup>6</sup> Trial counsel provided the court with a brief during pre-trial motions, moving to suppress among other things, “credit card fraud” regarding the charge pending against Petitioner in another county for his use of the decedent’s bank card as “unfairly prejudicial, irrelevant and inadmissible under Rule 404(b).” App. 973-974. While the court said: “my ruling from before still stands . . .” this matter was never ruled on by the trial court. App. 351, ll. 20-22;

Vicki Hallman, a witness from SLED’s crime scene unit, found “some DSS paperwork with [Petitioner’s] name on it” in Petitioner’s car. App. 455, ll. 9-10. Hallman said it was a notice of a lien with the decedent’s first name visible as the applicant.<sup>7</sup> App. 456, l. 22 – 457, l. 4. The state moved the item into evidence without objection from trial counsel. App. 455, ll. 9-22; App. 456, ll. 15-17.

In closing argument, trial counsel repeatedly referred to Petitioner as a “womanizer,” a “deadbeat dad,” and a “creep” around women. App. 776, l. 12; App. 776, ll. 18-19; App. 777, l. 11; App. 777, ll. 20-22; App. 778, ll. 17-18; App. 779, ll. 22-24; App. 784, ll. 2-3; App. 785, l. 24 – 786, l. 3; App. 788, ll. 14-15; App. 790, ll. 19-20. “He was creeping, yes. He’s a deadbeat dad, yeah.” App. 788, l. 14. Trial counsel told the jury Petitioner “had some prior bad acts,” and had a “different value system.” App. 790, ll. 18-22.

The solicitor also argued in closing: “Now, what do you know about [Petitioner], the defendant in this case? You know he’s a deadbeat daddy. There’s a DSS lien we’ve got photographs of. You know, he’s got locked up for forgery. That was testified to on the stand. Is a forger somebody whose story you should believe?” App. 752, ll. 4-9. “You know he’s a deadbeat dad. You know he’s a check forger. Been abusive to [the decedent] in the past. That was testified to. It’s uncontroverted.” App. 753, ll. 16-18. The solicitor said: “We have a deadbeat daddy, a check forger, and a liar. And all of those things are without any controversy. All of them are accurate, factual.” App. 771, ll. 10-15. He said the decedent was killed by “**deadbeat daddy, check forger, liar, and now murderer, [Petitioner].**” App. 775, ll. 3-4 (emphasis added). The

---

<sup>7</sup> Hallman testified of the paperwork: “I can see part of what the title is, but not the whole title,” and that “[i]t’s a notice of a lien.” She said the first name of the applicant was visible, and that it was Masako. App. 456, l. 15 – 457, l. 4.

solicitor claimed Petitioner's motive was in part that "[t]here's an active DSS lien against him by her." App. 773, ll. 17-18.

Petitioner was convicted of murder and sentenced to forty-five years' imprisonment. App. 1011.

On February 12, 2016, after his conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 889-901. In his application for PCR, Petitioner alleged his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel was violated when trial counsel put Petitioner's character at issue in opening and closing argument, and in his cross-examination. App. 895. The state filed a return to this application dated July 7, 2016. App. 902-908. An evidentiary hearing was convened February 15, 2017, before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. App. 925. Assistant Attorney General Ruston Neely represented the state and James K. Falk represented Petitioner. App. 926.

Virgin Johnson, Jr., who represented Petitioner at trial, testified at the PCR hearing, as did Petitioner. Virgin Johnson, Jr., testified before the PCR judge that he admitted evidence Petitioner had been to jail for forgery and failure to pay child support. App. 932, l. 14 – 933, l. 15. Johnson acknowledged that the Record on Appeal page 230, lines 22-25, reflect his elicitation of testimony Petitioner went to jail for child support and forgery. (Page 230 of the Record on Appeal is page 268 of the Appendix.) Johnson acknowledged this prior bad act information did not have any relevance to the case. App. 933, ll. 16-21.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing trial counsel allowed the jury to hear of his arrest record. App. 955, ll. 9-13. Petitioner correctly noted that trial counsel put his character at issue, labeled him as a womanizer and liar, and mischaracterized his personality and reputation to the

jury. App. 955, ll. 1-17. Petitioner said counsel had never discussed this “tactic” with him. App. 955, ll. 14-22.

Petitioner’s PCR counsel explained in summation that “this was a very close case,” and “the fact that the jury was able to hear of his prior bad acts . . . might have been sufficient to tip the balance in favor of finding guilt.” App. 960, l. 24 – 961, l. 3. PCR counsel expressed his concern that trial counsel “characteriz[ed] [Petitioner] as a womanizer. And again, in a close case, we feel that’s a prejudicial remark, especially under these facts where it’s the death of a girlfriend.” App. 961, ll. 7-11. PCR counsel correctly explained that bad acts including Petitioner’s alleged criminal record should have been excluded under Rule 404(b), SCRE, but were admitted into evidence. App. 961, ll. 3-6. PCR counsel argued trial counsel was ineffective in his prejudicial “characterization of [Petitioner] in the closing argument.” App. 961, ll. 7-11; App. 962, ll. 14-15.

By order filed September 22, 2017, the PCR court denied Petitioner relief. App. 989-1008. As to the allegation that trial counsel placed Petitioner’s character at issue, the order states: “**Applicant did not present any evidence on this allegation at the PCR hearing. Further, Counsel did not place Applicant’s character at issue.**” App. 1004 (emphasis added).

The order of dismissal also concludes that overwhelming evidence of guilt barred Petitioner from showing prejudice. The order states: “The evidence of Applicant’s was overwhelming [sic],” because Petitioner had the motive, means, and opportunity to commit the crime, and lied to the police. App. 1005-1006.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred in finding Petitioner presented no evidence on the allegation that trial counsel placed Petitioner's character at issue where trial counsel testified he admitted evidence Petitioner had charges of failure to pay child support and forgery, and these were irrelevant prior bad acts, and Petitioner correctly testified trial counsel put his character at issue by calling him a womanizer and allowing the jury to hear of his prior arrests, and where the solicitor exploited counsel's errors.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. *Id.* at 687. “Some errors will have had a pervasive effect on the inferences to be drawn from the evidence, altering the entire evidentiary picture, and some will have had an isolated, trivial effect.” *Id.* at 695-96.

“In a criminal case, the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant himself first places his character in issue. Further, evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad person.” *State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999). Similarly, evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or other bad acts to prove his guilt for the crime charged is prohibited, except to establish motive, intent, the absence of mistake or accident, a common scheme or plan, or identity. *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923); Rule 404(b), SCRE. “Evidence of other crimes must be

put to a rather severe test before admission. The acid test of admissibility is the logical relevancy of the other crimes.” *State v. Cutro*, 332 S.C. 100, 103, 504 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998).

“If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing.” *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008). “Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” *Id.*

Trial counsel put Petitioner’s character in issue, eliciting testimony on cross-examination that Petitioner went to jail for failure to pay child support and for forgery. This unfairly prejudicial evidence was irrelevant and was not otherwise before the jury. Trial counsel further elicited that Petitioner was charged with financial transaction fraud in connection with his use of the decedent’s bank card—prior bad act evidence that was not otherwise before the jury—and that counsel had objected to being admitted by the state. Trial counsel’s damaging elicitation of testimony that Petitioner had been to jail for forgery, financial transaction fraud, and failure to pay child support was unreasonable and deficient.

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