**RECEIVED**

NOV 19 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002115

---

KELVIN JACKSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHRISTIAN SAVILLE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103272

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for purportedly placing Petitioner's character in issue through the testimony he elicited on cross-examination and his comments during closing argument. Specifically, Petitioner alleges Trial Counsel was ineffective for characterizing Petitioner as a "womanizer" in his closing argument, eliciting information regarding Petitioner's unpaid child support on cross-examination. Petitioner also alleges Trial Counsel was ineffective for eliciting information that Petitioner was arrested for credit card fraud, this is despite the fact there was already ample testimony and evidence presented that Petitioner used Victim's card the night in question and even Petitioner admitted to using her card that night. As the PCR court properly found, Petitioner has failed to satisfy his burden of proving both deficiency and prejudice. Trial Counsel was not deficient because the testimony at issue was elicited in the course of reasonably tailored cross-examination, and Trial Counsel's closing argument clearly evidences a valid trial strategy of presenting Petitioner as an unfaithful boyfriend rather than a murderer to explain his suspicious behavior and inconsistent statements to police. Furthermore, Petitioner suffered no prejudice from the alleged deficiencies in light of the strong circumstantial evidence against him in relation to the information elicited by Trial Counsel, and Petitioner's credibility was minimal given his repeated lies to law enforcement without some justification for why he lied in the first place. Accordingly, the PCR court properly denied relief, and certiorari should be denied.

- A. Counsel was not deficient nor was Petitioner prejudiced by his performance where Trial Counsel strategically used evidence of Petitioner's termed "womanizing" and unfaithful behaviors to explain the ample evidence that Petitioner hid from detection the night of the murder and repeatedly lied to police about his whereabouts, thereby providing a conceivable alternative explanation to the circumstantial evidence as opposed to murder.**

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for purportedly placing Petitioner's character in issue through the testimony he elicited on cross-examination and his comments during closing argument. Specifically, Petitioner alleges Trial Counsel was ineffective for characterizing Petitioner as a "womanizer" in his closing argument, and eliciting information regarding Petitioner's unpaid child support on cross-examination as well as Petitioner's original apprehension for credit card fraud. However, Trial Counsel's performance was not deficient in this regard, nor was Petitioner conceivably prejudiced by Trial Counsel's performance. The record reveals Trial Counsel, in fact, strategically used this characterization of Petitioner as a "womanizer" to argue Petitioner only avoided detection around the time of the murder and lied about his whereabouts because he did not want his girlfriend to know he had been cheating on her with Victim, which conformed with Petitioner's final version of events provided to law enforcement. This was a reasonable strategic approach which allowed Trial Counsel to offer a much needed alternative explanation to an insurmountable amount of circumstantial evidence presented by the State against Petitioner.

Strickland requires that trial counsel be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another."

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Trial Counsel did not affirmatively articulate a strategic decision for this conduct, but he was not asked to at the PCR hearing. Furthermore, Trial Counsel did testify it was a strategic decision to have last argument, but testified he was unable to recall various elements of the case as it had been over three years since the trial occurred and he had not read the transcript. App. p. 932, ll. 10-20; p. 933, ll. 23-25; p. 944, l. 10. A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record for this Court to pass consider whether "in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the *wide* range of professionally competent assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690 (emphasis added). The record may show a clear basis for strategy in lieu of Trial Counsel's specific announcement of the strategy on the record. See Wood v. Allen, 588 U.S. 290 (2010) (affirming state PCR court's finding that counsel made a strategic decision not to inquire further into a petitioner's report about his mental deficiencies where the record supported that finding, despite counsel not articulating the strategy).

In this case, the theme of Trial Counsel's closing argument, given after the State's closing argument attacked Petitioner for his initial lies law enforcement about his whereabouts, reveals the use of Petitioner's unfaithfulness as a boyfriend, or a "womanizer," to confront the substantial circumstantial evidence against Petitioner. Near the beginning of Trial Counsel's closing argument, he argued, "Now, is Kelvin guilty of womanizing? Yes. Did Kelvin lie? I think in my opening I got up and said, look, there's no doubt that he lied. But the question is, who killed Victim?" App. p. 776, ll. 12-15. The State's case revealed Petitioner had parked his

car in a remote/hidden location near Victim's house the night she disappeared, and Trial Counsel was able to explain, "Kelvin was staying with Ms. Roberts [Petitioner's girlfriend]. The whole reason he parked his car and walked, because he was hiding his car so he wouldn't get caught ... Did he lie about the car? Yes. But what does that have to do with killing Ms. Miller?" App. p. 777, ll. 6-13. Furthermore, Trial Counsel used this characterization to attack the physical evidence of Petitioner's DNA on Victim's pillow, "It's no doubt Kelvin's DNA was on it. He said they messed around. Is he guilty of womanizing, because the night before, he messed around with Ms. Roberts? Yes. But he's not charged with messing around." App. p. 777, ll. 14-23. Naturally, after much had been made about Petitioner lying about his whereabouts that night, it would only be reasonable for Trial Counsel to somehow address the matter in his closing. Trial Counsel was able to explain this as well:

Kelvin should not have lied. But if he wasn't sneaking around, if he wasn't creeping, he wouldn't have had to lie. And he is here today, not because he murdered – you can't charge him with murdering Ms. Miller ... He's here because he was playing two women, and he got caught in his own trap. App. pp. 779-780

Trial Counsel also argued to the jury evidence of Petitioner being a deadbeat dad or emotionally abusive was "smoke and mirrors" and told the jury the State was trying to move them emotionally because this was only a circumstantial case and there was no proof of murder. App. p. 288, ll. 2-9. Trial Counsel repeated the principle that the State had no proof of murder and therefore were just trying to paint Petitioner in a bad light, arguing, "Got enough [evidence] to say some – got some child support papers, like half of our country with this different value system. What does that have to do with murder, other than inciting how you feel?" App. p. 790.

Absent some sort of explanation, the State's tremendous circumstantial evidence of a guilty conscience against Petitioner would have gone unanswered. Again, the State presented

evidence Petitioner visited Victim's house late the night of her disappearance but parked in an area known as "the Bottom," where no one would be able to see his car parked at Victim's house. App. p. 470, ll. 20-24; p. 477, ll. 4-10; p. 488, l. 23 – p. 489, l. 3. Furthermore, such a theory was in keeping with the changing story Petitioner provided to law enforcement. First, Petitioner denied being at Victim's home the night of her disappearance altogether, telling law enforcement he was actually at his girlfriend's house in Fairfax, Allendale County that night. App. p. 356, l. 25 – p. 357, l. 4. In that first interview, Petitioner denied even being in Hampton County the night of the incident. App. p. 357, ll. 17-19. However, when law enforcement informed him they had surveillance footage of him at the Shell gas station in Hampton County that night, he then changed his story to say he drove from Fairfax to Hampton County to get gas before driving back to Columbia, where he worked. App. p. 358, ll. 24-25. In this account, Petitioner told law enforcement he did not actually go to his girlfriend's house in Fairfax, but rather went to a strip club that night. App. p. 471, ll. 7-13. Petitioner also finally confided in his third statement that he and Victim "messed around" at her house the night of her disappearance before she let him borrow her card to get gas. App. p. 467, ll. 2-18; p. 473, ll. 5-17.

Trial Counsel's closing argument was effective and reasonably tailored to conform, to the best of Trial Counsel's abilities, with Petitioner's version of events provided to law enforcement and address a substantial amount of the circumstantial evidence against Petitioner. It also afforded Trial Counsel the opportunity to suggest the State was trying to hide deficiencies in their murder case with their efforts to focus on Petitioner's character. Trial Counsel was not deficient, but rather innovative and thorough in his use of the testimony at issue to weaken the State's case. Notwithstanding, Petitioner cannot prove prejudice from this allegation as the very testimony at issue allowed for the "explaining away" of substantial evidence against Petitioner

and provided for a defense theory consistent with Petitioner's own version of events. Therefore, there is no reasonable probability the outcome of the proceedings would have otherwise been any different. The PCR court's ruling should therefore be affirmed and certiorari should be denied.

**B. Trial Counsel was not deficient as the testimony at issue was elicited in the course of proper and reasonable cross-examination.**

Petitioner alleges Trial Counsel was ineffective for undertaking cross-examination which allegedly placed Petitioner's character in issue. To the contrary, the PCR court properly denied relief where the testimony Petitioner challenges was elicited in the course of proper and reasonable cross-examination by Trial Counsel. The record reveals Trial Counsel's cross-examination of the witnesses was reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The nature and scope of cross-examination is inherently a matter of trial tactics. United States v. Nersesian, 824 F.2d 1294, 1321 (2nd Cir. 1987). Furthermore, a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to *eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight*, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to *evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time*. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 679 (emphasis added).

First, Trial Counsel's cross-examination of Victim's friend and coworker occurred after Loadholt, over Trial Counsel's objection, had just testified about Victim coming to work with bruises and being afraid of Petitioner. App. p. 246, l. 21; p. 249, l. 17. In fact, Loadholt testified on direct that there was a police officer referred to as "Captain" who often responded to domestic incidents at the home. App. p. 255, l. 10. Naturally, this testimony prompted an effort by Trial Counsel to bring attention to the fact Petitioner was never arrested for domestic violence. Furthermore, when Loadholt would only testify Petitioner had not been to jail for domestic

violence “to her knowledge,” it is apparent that Trial Counsel was attempting to highlight her close relationship with Victim and suggest Petitioner must not have been arrested for domestic violence if this person who is supposedly so close to Victim never heard about it. When Loadholt volunteered information regarding Petitioner’s irrelevant arrest for child support, Trial Counsel reasonably endeavored to save face by noting the arrest was merely for failure to pay child support with a different woman, rather than something involving domestic violence with Victim. Trial Counsel was not deficient for confronting this witness on cross-examination in light of her earlier testimony, over Trial Counsel’s objection, regarding Petitioner’s previous physical abuse of Victim and encounters with law enforcement therefrom. In hindsight, the distorting effects of which ought to be removed from analysis of the conduct, this came at the minor cost of revealing Petitioner had failed to pay child support to a different woman when Loadholt volunteered that irrelevant information. Regardless, it was only reasonable to confront Loadholt’s testimony and make it clear Petitioner was *not* arrested for any sort of domestic violence.

Trial Counsel’s cross-examination of Agent Johnson in which he elicited information that Petitioner was interviewed while in custody for the financial transaction fraud was likewise reasonable. This exchange occurred after Johnson had just testified about the changes and inconsistencies in Petitioner’s story provided to law enforcement. The context of this dialogue reveals this exchange was an effort by Trial Counsel to address the inconvenient fact that Petitioner’s story had changed over time. Trial Counsel reasonably brought attention to the fact these statements were given while Petitioner was in custody, an inherently coercive and anxiety-inducing environment. First, Petitioner stated in his own written statement, which was admitted a trial, he was “locked up” for identity fraud. App. p. 644, ll. 19-23. Of course, evidence regarding Petitioner’s use of Victim’s card had already been admitted over Trial Counsel’s objection at this

point. App. p. 350, l. 1 – p. 351, l. 22. Furthermore, there would have been little doubt to the jury at this time that Petitioner had already been in custody as there was already testimony regarding his statements and Miranda warnings. It was no mystery Petitioner had been caught attempting to use Victim's credit card, as evidenced by the fact Petitioner was there for trial in the first place. Moreover, the cross-examination was an obvious effort by Trial Counsel to highlight the fact that while Petitioner's story may have changed under stressful circumstances, Petitioner remained consistent that he did not kill Victim. Trial Counsel was not deficient for this reasonable and strategic of cross-examination of Agent Johnson in which Trial Counsel reasonably confronted the unhelpful inconsistent statements Petitioner had given and the nature of the circumstances surrounding those statements.

This was a case of tremendous circumstantial evidence and strong witnesses for the State in which any cross-examination was virtually guaranteed to elicit some arguably unflattering information about Petitioner. Nevertheless, it was only reasonable for Trial Counsel to confront these inconvenient circumstances by calling into doubt the knowledge and reliability of Victim's friend Loadholt as well as the officer who took the statements from Petitioner, Agent Johnson. Therefore, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel as Trial Counsel was not deficient and Petitioner was in no way prejudiced by the alleged deficiencies. Accordingly, the PCR court's finding should be affirmed and certiorari should be denied.

- C. **Petitioner was not prejudiced by the testimony in light of much stronger circumstantial evidence indicating Petitioner's guilt and Petitioner's credibility was already thoroughly discounted by proof Petitioner repeatedly lied throughout the investigation.**

Notwithstanding the fact Trial Counsel's representation was effective and reasonable, and

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